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Memorandum 
   

 

Date: May 22, 2012 

To: Joe Simone 

From: Allison Rachleff 

Subject:  NYSEG PO 4500259392 
 
 Records Search Report for Medina Manufactured Gas Plant 
   

 

This memo has been prepared by AECOM under its Synergy Site Investigation and Design 
Services agreement with NYSEG, governed by the Master Services Procurement Agreement Terms 
and Conditions effective January 19, 2009, and amended January 20, 2011. 
 
The task order partially concerns preparation of records search reports (RSRs) for two former 
manufactured gas plants (MGPs) located in NYSEG’s service area. The New York State 
Department of Environmental Conservation (NYSDEC) requested that the RSRs be prepared to 
determine if NYSEG is liable for the site. This RSR concerns the Medina MGP. 

 
If you have any questions about this document, please call me at 212-798-8598. 
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Medina MGP Records Search Report Timeline 
 

- Hinds, Thomas G. 1923. “Thomas G. Hinds, Trustee, Medina Gas Plant.”  Annual Report to the 
Public Service Commission. [Attached documentation M1, page 1] 
 
New York State Legislature. 1914. Documents of the Assembly of the State of New York, One 
hundred and Thirty-seventh Session. Vol. 5, No. 2, part 2. Albany, NY: J.B. Lyon Company. 
[Attached documentation M1, page 2] 
 
The 1923 Thomas G. Hinds Annual Report to the Public Service Commission (PSC) indicates that 
an exclusive franchise was granted by the Village of Medina to the Medina Gas Light Company in 
October 1868. According to the report, the Medina MGP was originally owned by the Medina 
Gas Light Company. The Medina Gas Light Company then became the Medina Gas Company, 
which was ordered to foreclose (See documentation M1, page 1). The report entry did not 
include dates regarding the changes that occurred at the Medina MGP. Thomas G. Hinds 
(respondent) purchased the Medina MGP and the exclusive franchise for the Village of Medina 
at a foreclosure sale in 1913. Through this purchase, Hinds became the Trustee of the Medina 
MGP (See documentation M1, page 2).  
 

- Signor, Isaac S. 1894. Landmarks of Orleans County, New York. Syracuse, NY: D. Mason. 
[Attached documentation M2] 
 
According to Signor’s history of Orleans County, William Bent constructed the MGP in Medina 
ca. 1870, which approximates the October 1869 franchise date noted in the 1923 Thomas G. 
Hinds Annual Report to the PSC. The original plant was enlarged over time. In 1890, the Medina 
MGP was sold to Medina Gas Light Company.  
 
The Medina Electric Light Company formed in 1890. In April 1891, the Medina Gas Light 
Company and the Medina Electric Light Company were consolidated to form the Medina Gas 
and Electric Light Company. 

 
- D.G. Beers & Company. 1875. Atlas of Niagara and Orleans Counties. [Attached 

documentation M3] 
 
Beer’s 1875 map of the Village of Medina labels the Medina MGP as the O.K. Johnson Gas 
Works.  
 

- Sanborn Map Company. 1886; 1889. Village of Medina, New York.[Attached documentation 
M4] 
 
The 1886 and 1898 Sanborn Maps depict the Medina MGP, labeled the Medina Gas Works, on 
the banks of the Erie Canal along Race Alley.  
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- American Gas Light Journal. Vol. 84. 1906. “Items of Interest from Various Localities.” 
[Attached documentation M5] 
 
According to William R. Curry’s obituary in the 1906 American Gas Light Journal, Curry was 
superintendant of the Medina Gas Company from 1883-1906, during which time it was 
consolidated “with the electrical lighting concern.”  

 
- American Gas Light Journal. Vol. 96. 1912. “Items of Interest from Various Localities.” 

[Attached documentation M6] 
 
The Medina Gas Company was order to foreclose by Mr. Justice Marcus in 1911, after which 
time it operated in the hands of a Receiver.  

 
- Hinds, Thomas G. 1923. “Thomas G. Hinds, Trustee, Medina Gas Plant.” Annual Report to the 

Public Service Commission. [Attached documentation M7] 
 
According to the 1923 Thomas G. Hinds Annual Report to the PSC, the Medina MGP operated 
until 1918, at which time the plant closed due to fuel (coal) shortages caused by the advent of 
World War I. At the time that the 1923 Annual Report was filed, the Medina Gas Plant was still 
closed. 
 

- New York State Senate.  1917. Documents of the Senate of the State of New York, One 
Hundred and Fortieth Session. Vol. 13, Nos. 23-28. Albany, NY: J.B. Lyon Company. [Attached 
documentation M8, page 1] 
 
New York State Legislature. 1920. New York Legislative Documents, One Hundred and Forty-
third Session. Vol. 17, No. 37, part 2. Albany, NY: J.B. Lyon Company. [Attached 
documentation M8, page 2] 
 
According to 1917 New York State Senate documents, the New York State Barge Canal 
Commission appropriated a strip of land for the Erie Canal. The Medina MGP’s purifiers were 
located on the land. According to 1920 New York State Legislature documents, a commission 
engineer determined that the land seizure was unnecessary. It was “expected that the plant will 
again be operated as soon as the State Barge Canal Commission reconveys a strip of land taken 
by appropriation…” 
 

- “Old Gas Company to be put into Commission Again.” 1919. American Gas Engineering 
Journal. [Attached documentation M9] 
 
A 1919 article published in American Gas Engineering Journal underscored the difficulty 
surrounding an exclusive franchise, noting that the citizens of Medina wanted the Medina MGP 
to return to service as they “keenly feel the lack of gas for household purposes.” This article also 
indicated that the Medina MGP was not operational in 1919, but there were plans to reopen the 
it. 
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- “Medina.” 1921. Brown’s Directory of American Gas Companies.[Attached documentation 
M10] 
 
According to Brown’s Directory of American Gas Companies (1921), the Medina Gas Company 
had ceased operation.  
 

- Duffy, Joseph. 1925. “Medina Gas Plant (Thomas G. Hinds, Trustee).” Annual Report to the 
Public Service Commission. Final Report. [Attached documentation M11] 
 
According to the 1925 Medina Gas Plant Annual Report to the PSC, Thomas G. Hinds died in 
Syracuse, New York on September 8, 1924. Additionally, the report noted that the MGP was not 
“in a fit condition for operations.”  
 

- Sanborn Map Company. 1927. Village of Medina.[Attached documentation M12] 
 
A 1927 Sanborn Map documents the removal of the gas holder from the Medina MGP, and 
labels the buildings as vacant. Thus, the MGP did not appear to be operable in 1927.  
 

- Helen Hinds Iseman. April 18, 1928.  Thomas G. Hinds Estate. General Release. [Attached 
documentation M13, page 1] 
 
Ella M. Hinds. April 18, 1928.  Thomas G. Hinds Estate. General Release. [Attached 
documentation M13, page 2] 
 
According to a general release filed with the Hudson County  Surrogate’s Court in New Jersey, 
on April 18, 1928, Ella Hinds, Thomas G. Hinds’ widow, and Helen Hinds Iseman, his daughter, 
released their claim to Hinds’ estate in their capacity as administratrixes. The estate included 
the exclusive gas franchise for the Village of Medina and the Medina MGP.  
 

- Duff, John A. 1928. “Lockport Light, Heat & Power Company.” Public Service Commission 
Report for the Year Ended December 31, 1928. [Attached documentation M14, M15, and M16] 
 
According to the 1928 Lockport Light, Heat & Power Company (Lockport) Annual Report to the 
PSC, Lockport purchased a series of franchises to provide gas in multiple villages, including the 
Village of Medina, for $10,508.70 (See documentation M14). Note column “h,” which indicates 
that Lockport acquired the new franchise from the Village of Medina. Stipulations for 
completing the column require that any franchise not acquired from the original grantor must 
include the chain of title connecting the grantor to the current franchise owner. Therefore, 
Lockport received a new franchise from the Village of Medina that was not connected with the 
one acquired by Thomas G. Hinds.  
 
Additionally, in the 1928 Lockport Annual Report to the PSC, Lockport appears to have owned 
only one gas plant in the City of Lockport which had been closed in 1927. The company 
purchased gas from Semet-Solvay Company of Buffalo at that time (See documentation M15). In 
1928, Lockport reported acquiring a gas plant in the Village of Albion, but did not mention the 
Village of Medina (See attached documentation M16, question 5). 
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- “Lockport.” 1929. Brown’s Directory of American Gas Companies.[Attached documentation 
M17] 
 
Brown’s Directory of American Gas Companies (1929) confirmed that Lockport served the Village 
of Medina. The entry also noted that gas was purchased from Semet-Solvay.  
 

- “New York State Electric and Gas Corporation.” 1930. Public Service Commission Report for the 
Year Ended December 31, 1930. [Attached documentation M18] 
 
The 1930 NYSEG PSC Annual Report noted the Medina franchise was granted on September 7, 
1927, with service starting in 1928; NYSEG acquired the franchise after merging with Lockport. 
Note that according to the 1928 Lockport PSC Annual Report, the franchise was acquired in 
1928. 
 

In summary, the above records indicate that there were two gas franchises associated with the Village of 
Medina. The first was an exclusive franchise which served the village from 1868-ca. 1925, and utilized 
the Medina MGP. Research indicates that the Medina MGP operated from 1868 until 1918, at which 
time it closed, due in part to conditions associated with World War I. The New York State Barge Canal 
Commission then appropriated a strip of land upon which the purifiers for the Medina MGP were 
located, causing the MGP to remain permanently closed. There was then a three-year-hiatus that 
extended from 1925 when the final PSC report was filed for the Medina MGP after the death of its 
Trustee, Thomas G. Hinds, to 1928 when Hinds’ heirs released their claim to his estate. The estate 
included the exclusive gas franchise for the Village of Medina. The 1927 Sanborn Map of the Village of 
Medina documents the Medina MGP as vacant and inoperable at that time. The second franchise was a 
new one granted by the Village of Medina, and purchased by Lockport Light, Heat and Power Company 
in 1928. Research indicates that it was a distribution franchise, which did not encompass the Medina 
MGP. NYSEG acquired the second franchise when it merged with Lockport in 1929. Based upon on this 
information, NYSEG does not appear to be liable for the Medina MGP.  
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